THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000367

Desa Ballard and Desa Ballard P. A.,
d/b/a Ballard & Watson,

Appellants,

v.

Admiral Insurance Company and Adele
R. Pope, individually and as Special
Administrator of the Estate of Gloria
Corley,

RECEIVED
MAR 26 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

BLAND RICHTER, LLP
Ronald L. Richter, Jr. (SC Bar No. 66377)
Scott M. Mongillo (SC Bar No. 16574)
Peoples Building
18 Broad Street, Mezzanine
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
843.573.9900 (telephone)
843.573.0200 (facsimile)

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

CONSIDERATION OF THE “HAMMER CLAUSE” IS PREMATURE AND THE RECORD REFLECTS NO FACTS UPON WHICH A COURT COULD DETERMINE WHETHER BALLARD’S REFUSAL TO PERMIT SETTLEMENT WAS REASONABLE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Ballard (hereafter “Ballard”) filed this action after her professional liability carrier Respondent Admiral (hereafter “Admiral”) refused to honor its contractual obligations to Ballard. Admiral advised they intended to initiate settlement discussions and make a settlement offer on a potential civil claim being asserted (but not yet filed) by a third party against Ballard for purposes of attempting to resolve the claim, over Ballard’s objection. Ballard was insured under a professional liability policy that expressly included her right to object to settlement by the insurer without her consent. Ballard’s carrier advised Ballard it would withdraw coverage and leave her to defend the action on her own if she did not consent to allow them to initiate discussions and settle with third party claimant (hereafter “Mrs. Pope”). (ROA p. 104).

Mrs. Pope filed suit against Ballard on February 23, 2017. (ROA p. 97). While Admiral retained counsel to defend, Admiral continued to violate their duties to Ballard by pursuing settlement discussions with Mrs. Pope, over Ballard’s objections. Ballard responded by filing the instant action. (ROA pp. 93-112).

Admiral moved for judgment on the pleadings, asserting that it had the absolute right to “cram-down” a settlement whether Ballard liked it or not, despite the express language in the policy giving Ballard the right to refuse to consent to settlement. Respondent carrier postured that, since Ballard had an obligation to cooperate per the insurance policy, it could invoke what it calls

a “hammer” clause to force whatever settlement it chose to make with Mrs. Pope without violating its contractual obligations to Ballard. The trial judge granted the Respondent carrier’s motion. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from an order granting judgment on the pleadings, the appellate court applies the same standard of review applied by the circuit court. *Hambrick v. GMAC Mortgage Company*, 370 S.C. 118, 634 S.E.2d 35 (Ct. App. 2006). The trial court’s order includes a section entitled “standard of review” which does not address whether the court’s decision was one of law or whether the court’s decision was based on the facts, as admitted, in the pleadings. (ROA pp. 11-12). However, the circuit court incorporated the provisions of the professional liability policy into its consideration¹ in granting judgment on the pleadings. (ROA p. 16). For that reason, and also because Admiral attached a copy of a policy to its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Ballard asserts that the proper scope of review is the equivalent of the scope of review on grant of summary judgment. For that reason, the appellate court reviews the trial court’s order by construing all evidence and facts in favor of the non-moving party. *Waters v. Southern Farm Bureau Life Ins.*, 365 S.C. 519, 687 S.E.2d 385 (Ct. App. 2005). “Even if there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions to be drawn from them, summary judgment is improper.” *Id.*

¹ The trial court found, erroneously that the actual policy in question was attached to the Answer filed by Admiral that was filed in this case while it was still pending in federal court, before it was remanded to state court for improper removal. *Ballard v. Admiral*, Case No. 3:17-cv-01916-FJA-SVH (ECF 1-3). That is error. The federal court docket makes clear that a policy was attached as an exhibit to the Motion, not to the Answer filed by Admiral. (ECF 1-3). Admiral skirted this issue by attaching a copy of the policy in question to its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, (electronic docket filing 5-31-2018 @ 8:37 am), which effectively converted this motion into one for summary judgment. (ROA p. 12).

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Ballard brought this action for declaratory, injunctive and related relief against her professional liability insurance carrier, Admiral, regarding the respective rights and obligations of the parties under that specific policy of professional liability covered issued to Ballard on July 12, 2014, Policy No. 91200935 (hereafter “**the Admiral policy**”) (ROA p. 95).

Admiral renewed Ballard’s policy each year until the policy year 2017-2018, when Admiral refused to renew, claiming Ballard had breached the terms and conditions of the policy by refusing it to engage in settlement discussions with Adele Pope (hereafter “Mrs. Pope”), a third party who had asserted a claim against Ballard under the 2014 policy. Mrs. Pope was ostensibly asserting a claim on behalf of the Estate of Gloria Corley, a former client of Ballard’s who had previously been represented by Mrs. Pope. Mrs. Pope managed to get herself appointed special administrator of Mrs. Corley’s estate so she could pursue collection of the debt owed to Mrs. Pope personally (the estate owned no other debts). (ROA pp. 97-105).

Mrs. Pope, in her individual capacity, had earlier filed suit against Mrs. Corley to collect attorney fees that Mrs. Pope asserted were due to her by Mrs. Corley for legal services rendered by Mrs. Pope a decade earlier (hereafter “**Mrs. Pope’s claim for attorney fees**”). (ROA p. 98). This suit was brought even though Mrs. Pope had collected substantial attorney’s fees during the representation in the 1990’s and collected approximately \$18,333.33 each year from 1999 through 2010 upon receipt by Mrs. Corley of each annual distribution from the Corley Trust.

² Because this matter is decided on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the facts alleged in the complaint are assumed to be true. *Home Builders Association of South Carolina v. School District No. 2 of Dorchester County*, 405 S.C. 458, 748 S.E.2d 230 (2013).

Ballard defended Mrs. Corley in Mrs. Pope's claim for attorney fees and costs sought, and asserted, among other defenses, that the fee agreement between Mrs. Pope and Mrs. Corley was void as against public policy. Ballard asserted that Mrs. Pope was attempting to charge an unreasonable fee to Mrs. Pope and to take advantage of Mrs. Corley who was elderly and in frail health. While defending Mrs. Pope's claim, Plaintiffs also represented Mrs. Corley in negotiating a buy-out of Mrs. Corley's interests in a trust established by her late husband, Martin L. Corley (hereafter "**the trust settlement**"). Mrs. Pope was not a party to the trust settlement and had no interest in it (she attempted to claim an interest because she had taken the extraordinary step in the 1999 settlement of making herself the "irrevocable design[ee]" to receive the annual payments to Mrs. Corley, so that Mrs. Pope could deduct her attorney's fees before disbursing the net proceeds to Mrs. Corley. In essence, Mrs. Pope had included language in the 1999 settlement that prohibited Mrs. Corley from terminating Mrs. Pope's services at any time during Mrs. Corley's lifetime. However, since the trust settlement did not include any funds generated by Mrs. Pope's legal services, her "irrevocable designee" status was not relevant.

The trust settlement Ballard negotiated for Mrs. Corley with the M. L. Corley trust was approved by the Lexington County probate court. (ROA p. 98). The payment excluded any of the annual payments to which Mrs. Pope had made herself the irrevocable beneficiary, so there would be no portion of the lump sum buyout to which Mrs. Pope could seek to recover attorney's fees. Mrs. Pope had been paid more than enough for her brief work for Mrs. Corley.

Despite Ballard's efforts, Mrs. Pope sought a judgment against Mrs. Corley for a percentage of the lump-sum buyout paid to Mrs. Corley under the theory that Mrs. Pope's interest in the payments to Mrs. Corley were irrevocable (and despite the unreasonableness of the fee

claimed by Mrs. Pope). Mrs. Pope claimed she was entitled to a percentage of anything Mrs. Corley received, regardless of whether the funds had been received as a result of any legal services Mrs. Pope had provided to Mrs. Corley, and a circuit court agreed. (ROA p. 100) Ballard filed an appeal of that judgment to the Court of Appeals, but the appeal was untimely, and the appeal was dismissed. Ballard notified Admiral of the potential claim. (ROA p. 101)

Unbeknownst to anyone, Mrs. Corley's daughter, Andra Williams, apparently stole the majority of Mrs. Corley's trust settlement obtained by Ballard, and Mrs. Pope's judgment against Mrs. Corley remained unpaid at the time of Mrs. Corley's death. Mrs. Pope applied to be special administrator of the Estate of Mrs. Corley so she could ensure the debt to herself personally was paid. She also threatened, then filed, suit against Ballard alleging legal malpractice with resulting damages to Mrs. Corley. Mrs. Pope individually was the only creditor of the estate, by virtue of her undeserved windfall judgment arising from the Corley trust settlement.

Ballard demanded a defense from Admiral, which indicated it intended to engage in pre-suit mediation with Mrs. Pope. Ballard objected as she had a right to do under the policy³. Nonetheless, Admiral continued its efforts and it is believed it engaged in settlement discussions in direct contravention of its duties to Ballard. Subsequently, Mrs. Pope filed suit against Ballard. Admiral threatened Ballard that, if it reached a settlement number that Mrs. Pope would agree to

³ Admiral wished to initiate settlement discussions with Mrs. Pope, to try to reach a number which Mrs. Pope would agree upon, and which Admiral was willing to pay. Admiral's intent was to place Ballard in a position of having to consent or refuse to consent to a settlement figure (ROA pp. 104-105) No settlement figure was ever proposed to Ballard, so Ballard has not rejected any settlement proposal. Admiral said it would withdraw its defense if Ballard did not consent to some possible-future-settlement-offer. Of course, initiating settlement discussions to try to reach an agreed-upon-in-the-future-number would allow Admiral to put Ballard in that untenable position.

accept and Ballard refused to permit the settlement, Admiral would withdraw its defense of Ballard which it was obligated to provide under its policy(ies)⁴.

Ballard put Admiral on notice of two claims: the missed appeal in 2014 and the claim by Mrs. Pope in 2017 as special administrator of Mrs. Corley's estate. Ballard instructed that no settlement discussions were to be had with Mrs. Pope, and that she intended to defend the claims asserted by Mrs. Pope. Ballard also brought a third-party action against Mrs. Corley's daughter Andra Williams for the theft of the funds Ballard had obtained and entrusted to Ms. Williams who was Mrs. Corley's attorney-in-fact. Ballard asserted that any damages sustained by Mrs. Corley were the result of the theft by Ms. Williams, and any negligence by Ballard was superseded by Ms. Williams' theft of funds from her mother.

Ballard filed this lawsuit, seeking a declaratory judgment that Admiral owed an obligation to defend Ballard in the suit brought by Mrs. Pope and not to seek or enter into a settlement with Mrs. Pope. Admiral moved for judgment on the pleadings, claiming that its "hammer clause" was enforceable as a matter of law, and that the facts didn't matter. In other words, Admiral claimed that Ballard's right under the policy to refuse to consent to settlement was meaningless. The circuit court agreed.

⁴ While the first notice of possible claim, related to the missed appeal, was made in 2014, the second notice of claim by Mrs. Corley's estate was made in 2017, Admiral never designated which policy it claimed was applicable to its rights. It has been presumed throughout that the 2014 policy is the applicable policy, although Admiral has never so stated.

ISSUE

CONSIDERATION OF THE “HAMMER CLAUSE” IS PREMATURE AND THE RECORD REFLECTS NO FACTS UPON WHICH A COURT COULD DETERMINE WHETHER BALLARD’S REFUSAL TO PERMIT SETTLEMENT WAS REASONABLE.

A. Consideration of the “hammer” clause is premature.

The following language is quoted from the order on appeal, which quoted what the court believed to be the relevant portions of the insurance policy which is the subject of this action. (ROA p. 16).

VI. Defense, Cooperation and Settlement

B. The Insurer shall have the sole right and the duty to defend any covered Claim...

C. . . . Each Insured shall cooperate with the Insurer in the defense and settlement of any Claim. . . Upon request of the Insurer, the Insured shall . . . assist in effecting settlement. . .

D. The Insurer shall not settle any Claims without the Named Insured’s consent. . .

As Ballard pointed out in opposing the motion, an insurance policy that is ambiguous must be interpreted in favor of the insured. *Reynolds v. Wabash Life Ins. Co.*, 251 S.C. 165, 161 S.E.2d 168 (1968).

Section VI (A) gives the Admiral the “sole right and obligation to defend.” Section VI(C) prohibits Admiral from settling any claim without the consent of Ballard. Section VI(B), which obligated Ballard to “assist in effecting settlement” has not occurred and may

never occur. Admiral is defending. Ballard has not been presented with a settlement offer which Admiral wishes to make. As postured by Admiral in its motion for judgment on the pleadings, paragraphs VI(A) and VI (C) would seem to conflict. Paragraph VI(B) is an attempt to bridge the conflicting obligations of the Insurer and its Insured, but does not thing to eliminate the ambiguity.

This lawsuit does not seek to prevent a settlement from occurring. Instead, it seeks to prevent Admiral “pursu[ing] a settlement” or “seek[ing] to settle” the claim so as to put Ballard in a position of having to invoke the “consent” provision of the policy. That has not happened yet. The “hammer clause” is not before the court.

Admiral did not allege nor assert in its pleadings that Ballard failed to cooperate in the handling of the claim. The gist of its argument, as accepted by the trial judge, that Ballard’s refusal to allow initiation of settlement discussions by Admiral constituted a “failure to cooperate” as a matter of law, thus rendering the “consent” term of the policy a nullity. However, no settlement has been offered, nor purportedly accepted, by Admiral. Admiral was attempting to come up with a number that it could try to force on Ballard. Doing so clearly was adverse to Ballard, and put her in the position of having to decide on her position on the “consent” provision of the policy.

The “hammer” clause has not yet been triggered. Only when and if Admiral and Mrs. Pope agree to a settlement number would the “hammer clause” be triggered. That might not ever happen. It certainly hasn’t happened yet. But Admiral was attempting to place Ballard in a position of having to evaluate her rights by attempting to initiate and come up with a settlement figure that it was willing to pay, and Mrs. Pope was willing to accept. In other words, Admiral was breaching its obligation by initiating settlement

discussions in order to place Ballard in an adverse position by having to accept or reject a settlement number that might have been agreed on.

The only provision of the policy raised by this litigation is Ballard's right to refuse settlement. Cases that have construed this type of provision in a professional liability insurance policy have stated that, in determining the applicability of the "consent" provision, the fact finder must determine whether the insured's reasons for refusing settlement are reasonable. *Clauson v. New England Insurance Co.*, 254 F.3d 331 (1st Cir. 2001). Specifically, the "hammer clause" is applicable only when the insured "unreasonably" refuses to consent to a settlement. *Id.* The rule is not limited to professional liability insurance policies for legal services; the rule is the same in other liability policies. *Security Insurance Company of Hartford v. Schipporeit, Inc.*, 69 F.3d 1377 (7th Cir. 1995). *See also Hoyt v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 607 F.2d 864 (9th Cir. 1979).

Therefore, the Court's application and construction of the "hammer" clause is premature, because no settlement proposal had been made which Ballard had rejected. The only provision of the policy placed in issue by this litigation is the "consent" provision. Ballard sought to prevent Admiral from initiating settlement discussions, because doing so would place Admiral in a conflict with Ballard herself if a settlement number was reached between Admiral and Mrs. Pope.

B. There is no evidence of Ballard's reasoning to enable the court to consider whether her consent is unreasonable.

The Court made no inquiry, nor did Admiral offer any facts, as to the reasons Ballard opposed settlement discussions or settlement with Mrs. Pope. Since the matter was

decided as a matter of law, there was no factual basis upon which the Court could conclude that Ballard's rationale for refusing to permit settlement discussions was unreasonable. Even if there had been, that determination would likely be a factual one to be made by the factfinder and not an issue to be decided as a matter of law. *Bishop v. Benson*, 297 S.C. 14, 374 S.E.2d 517 (1988).

Additionally, as discussed above, no settlement offer had been made which Ballard could refuse. Any analysis as to the reasonableness of Ballard's position could not be determined unless or until a settlement proposal was made and Ballard had rejected it.

There are two issues tied ever-so-slightly together and they were buried by the Court's consideration of a hammer clause that is not relevant to the issues before the Court. Admiral violates its contractual obligations to Ballard by initiating settlement discussions for the purpose of placing her in a position of having to either accept a settlement proposal or forfeit her right to a defense under the policy. Ballard is Admiral's insured. It cannot take actions which are detrimental to her. There may be an occasion in the future in which the hammer clause comes into effect in the dispute between Ballard and Admiral, but it certainly has not happened yet. Consideration of the hammer clause is not appropriate at this point. The only issue is whether Admiral may begin the process of throwing Ballard under the bus by initiating settlement discussions in order to put Ballard in a position of having to weigh her options under the "consent" provision of the policy.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the Court erred in considering and ruling upon the application of the "hammer clause" when that issue is not ripe for determination. Additionally, even if consideration of the "hammer clause" could be made at this point, the

record reflects no facts upon which any court can determine whether Ballard's reasons for invoking the "consent" provision of her policy with Admiral were reasonable. Therefore, this Court should reverse the judgment of the circuit court.