IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000367

Desa Ballard and Desa Ballard P.A.,
d/b/a Ballard & Watson

RECEIVED

Appellants,

v.

MAR 19 2020

Admiral Insurance Company and Adele R. Pope,
individually and as Special Administrator of the
Estate of Gloria Corley,

SC Court of Appeals

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ADMIRAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Wesley B. Sawyer, Esq. (SC Bar #100229)
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
wsawyer@murphygrantland.com
Attorneys for Respondent Admiral
Insurance Company

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court properly held that neither the law nor the Policy gives Appellants the right to prevent Admiral from negotiating the Underlying Claim. The Policy gives Admiral the sole right and duty to defend the case, which includes deciding when to enter into settlement negotiations, and the Policy requires the insureds to cooperate in the defense and settlement of the case. The Circuit Court also properly applied the plain language of the Policy's consent to settle clause and rejected Appellants' invitation to rewrite the plainly worded contract.

Likewise, the Circuit Court properly entered judgment on the pleadings on all issues. The case is controlled by a pure question of law. Even if every properly pleaded factual allegation in the Complaint were true, the Policy's defense and consent to settle provisions control the parties' respective rights and obligations in this case by giving Admiral the right to control the defense of the case and by addressing what happens if Admiral recommends a settlement that the Estate of Gloria Corley would accept. Because Admiral is entitled to judgment as a matter of law regardless of any facts alleged in the Complaint, the Circuit Court's Order should be affirmed.

⁶ Appellants erroneously argue that the trial court converted the judgment on the pleadings motion into one for summary judgment by considering the Admiral policy. (Appellants' Br. pp. 6-7). The Policy was part of the pleadings, both via Admiral's attachment of the Policy to its Answer and Counterclaim and via Appellants' specific reference to the Policy by policy number throughout their Complaint. In fact, Appellants acknowledge in their brief that their claim is based upon Policy Number 91200935. (Appellants' Br. p. 7). Therefore, the Circuit Court properly considered the Policy when it evaluated the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

Even if the motion was converted to summary judgment, Admiral was still entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The interpretation of the Policy is a pure question of law, and the Policy's terms control.

I. The Circuit Court correctly applied the plain terms of the Policy when it held that Admiral had the right to defend and negotiate the claim, and the Circuit Court properly refused to rewrite the consent to settle clause to include a “reasonableness” condition.

Faced with an unambiguous contract, the Circuit Court faithfully applied the Policy’s plain terms and granted Admiral’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. One of the primary goals of drafting a contract is to anticipate potential disputes between the parties and to set out – at the time of contracting and before the dispute ever arises – how the dispute will be handled. *See e.g., Severn Peanut Co., Inc. v. Industrial Fumigant Co.*, 807 F.3d 88, 91 (4th Cir. 2015) (discussing freedom of contract, which allows “parties to bargain over the allocation of risk.”). Insurance is a transfer of risk, and the insurance contract communicates between the parties what risks the insurance company is assuming and what risks it is not willing to assume. *See e.g., Union Labor Life Ins. v. Pireno*, 358 U.S. 119, 130, 102 S. Ct. 3002, 3009 (1982) (“The transfer of risk from insured to insurer is effected by means of the contract between the parties – the insurance policy – and the transfer is complete at the time that the contract is entered.”); *LM Ins. Corp. v. Kobys*, 21017 WL 1073352, *7 (D.N.J. March 20, 2017) (“The fundamental concept of insurance centers on the transfer of risk.”).

Admiral agreed to take on certain risks – including the duty to defend and indemnify Appellants – but that transfer of risk was not absolute. In fact, the Policy anticipates the precise dispute between the parties here and addresses the allocation of risk. Admiral has control of the defense.⁷ Appellants have a duty to cooperate in the defense and settlement of the case.⁸ Although

⁷ Section “VI. Defense, Cooperation and Settlement,” Paragraph B. states, “The Insurer shall have the *sole* right and duty to defend any covered claim . . .” (R. p. 371) (emphasis added)

⁸ Section “VI. Defense, Cooperation and Settlement,” Paragraph C. states, “Each Insured shall cooperate with the Insurer in the defense *and settlement* of any Claim . . .” (R. p. 371) (emphasis added).

the Named Insured retains the ultimate right to reject a potential settlement, Admiral did not agree to accept the risk of fighting a case to its end merely because its insured rejects a settlement. Instead, the Policy provides that if the insured rejects a proposed settlement recommended by Admiral that is acceptable to the Estate, then Admiral's exposure is limited. Because the Policy addresses each of these matters by its plain terms, the policy must be enforced as written, and the Circuit Court properly refused to rewrite the insurance contract.

"Courts must enforce, not write contracts of insurance, and their language must be given its plain, ordinary and popular meaning." *Auto Owners v. Benjamin*, 415 S.C. 137, 143, 781 S.E.2d 137, 141 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *Whitlock v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 399 S.C. 610, 614, 732 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2012)). Appellants' argument rests primarily on their request for this Court to rewrite the terms of the Policy – something South Carolina law prohibits. The Circuit Court correctly refused Appellants' invitation to write terms into the contract that are not there, and Admiral requests that this Court do the same.

A. The Circuit Court correctly held that Admiral has the right to negotiate with the Estate and that Appellants do not have the right to prevent those negotiations.

The Circuit Court rejected Appellants' attempts to prevent Admiral from negotiating with the Estate, holding: "The Court finds that the Admiral Policy does not give Plaintiffs a right to impede Admiral's efforts to negotiate a potential settlement. To the contrary, the terms of the Admiral Policy specifically require Plaintiffs' cooperation."⁹ (R. p. 17). In doing so, the Circuit Court relied on two parts of the Policy's "Defense, Cooperation and Settlement" section:

⁹ Appellants' Brief does not appear to actually challenge this holding. Although Appellants cite this language to claim that it was the basis for the Court's holdings relating to the "hammer clause," the Court relied on these provisions in Section III of its "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law." (R. pp. 15–17). The hammer clause is addressed in Sections VI and V. (R. pp. 17–20). Thus, it does not appear Appellants have preserved a challenge to Section III of the Court's "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law." Nonetheless, Admiral addresses this portion of the Circuit Court's Order out of an abundance of caution.

VI. Defense, Cooperation and Settlement

- B. The **Insurer** shall have the sole right and duty to defend any covered **Claim**, and has the sole right to select defense counsel. . . .
- C. Each **Insured** shall cooperate with the **Insurer** in the defense and settlement of any **Claim** Upon the request of the **Insurer**, the **Insured** shall attend hearings, depositions and trials, assist in effecting settlement, securing and giving evidence, obtaining the attendance of witnesses and meeting with such representatives for the purposes of investigation or defense, all without charge to the **Insurer**.

(R. p. 371).

By its plain terms, the Admiral Policy gives Admiral the sole right to control the defense of the case. The duty to defend has included the duty to settle, when settlement is the reasonable thing to do, for at least as far back as 1933 when the South Carolina Supreme Court issued its decision in *Tyger River Pine Co. v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 170 S.C. 286, 170 S.E.2d 346 (1933). The Supreme Court in *Tyger River* held, “an insurer against liability for accidents which assumes the duty of defending a claim owes the assured the duty of settling the claim if that is the reasonable thing to do.” *Id.* at 349 (quotation omitted).

More recently, the South Carolina Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules mandate an insurer’s participation in settlement negotiations. Rule 6(b)(4), SCADR requires attendance at mediation in the Underlying Action by “a representative of the insurance carrier who is not the carrier’s outside counsel and who has full authority to settle the claim.” Therefore, by having the sole right and duty to defend the Underlying Action, Admiral also has the right to negotiate a potential settlement of the claim.

Not only does Admiral have the right to negotiate a potential settlement, but also Appellants – as insureds – owe a duty to cooperate. The Policy states, “Each insured shall cooperate with the Insurer in the defense and settlement of any Claim” (R. p. 371) (emphasis

added). Thus, in addition to Admiral having control of the defense, Appellants – as insureds – have an obligation to cooperate in the defense and settlement of the case. Certainly, if the insured has a duty to cooperate in the defense and settlement of the case, then the clause does not give the insured the right to prohibit the insurer from negotiating the Underlying Action. To the contrary, the insured has a duty to cooperate.

The Circuit Court correctly applied the plain language of the two above-quoted policy provisions when it held Appellants could not prevent Admiral from negotiating with the Estate to see if there is an amount that Admiral would be willing to pay and the Estate would be willing to accept to settle the case. Once again, it is not clear that Appellants have appealed this portion of the Court's Order. To the extent they have, the Circuit Court ruled correctly and should be affirmed.

B. The Circuit Court correctly applied the consent to settle clause as it is written and rejected Appellants' request to rewrite the clause.

The Circuit Court's fourth and fifth declarations closely adhere to the plain language of the Policy's consent to settle clause. Because the clause is plainly worded, the Circuit Court was bound to apply the Policy's terms as written. Although Appellants asked the Circuit Court to read the word "unreasonably" into the consent to settle clause, the Circuit Court properly rejected this invitation. Some policies do include a "reasonableness" standard in their consent to settle clause, but this one does not. Appellants cannot ask this Court to rewrite a plainly worded contract merely because they purchased a policy that does not include the "reasonableness" standard.

- i. **Consent to settle clauses come in two forms – those that create consequences if an insured “unreasonably” rejects a proposed settlement and those, like Admiral’s, that do not include a “reasonableness” qualification.**

It is no surprise that different professional liability policies contain different consent to settle clauses. There are two key types relevant to this case.¹⁰ Both types have certain overlapping characteristics. For example, they both give the insured the ability to reject a proposed settlement. They also both provide certain consequences if the insured rejects the proposed settlement. However, the two types have one distinction that is critical for purposes of this case.

Some consent to settle clauses include a “reasonableness” standard, and others do not. Admiral’s does not. The case cited by Appellants – *Clauson v. New England Ins. Co.*, 254 F.3d 331 (1st Cir. 2001) – involved a consent to settle clause with a “reasonableness” provision. The clause stated:

The company shall have the right to make any investigation it deems necessary and with the written consent of the insured, **said consent not to be unreasonably withheld**, any settlement of any claim covered by the terms of the policy.

If the insured shall refuse to consent to any settlement or compromise recommended by the Company and acceptable to the claimant, and elects to contest the claim ... then the Company’s liability shall not exceed the amount for which the Company would have been liable for damages if the claim or suit or proceeding had been so settled or compromised, when so recommended. The Company shall have no liability for claims expenses accruing thereafter and the Company shall have the right to withdraw from the further defense thereof by tendering control of said defense to the insured.

Id. at 336-37 (emphasis added).

¹⁰ Admiral does not contend that there are only two types of consent to settle clauses. However, the cases cited by the parties here focus on two types of clauses. To simplify the issues, Admiral addresses these two types and their key distinction in this Brief.

The Appellants cited the similar case of *Freedman v. United Nat. Ins. Co.*, 211 WL 781919 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 1, 2011), in their memorandum before the Circuit Court. Like the clause in *Clauson*, the clause in *Freedman* also included a reasonableness standard:

[Insurer] shall ... not settle any CLAIM without the written consent of the NAMED INSURED **which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld**. If however, the NAMED INSURED refuses to consent to a settlement recommended by [Insurer] and elects to contest the CLAIM or continue legal proceedings in connection with such CLAIM, [Insurer's] liability for the CLAIM shall not exceed the amount for which the CLAIM could have been settled ...

Id. at *1 (emphasis added).

In contrast, Admiral's clause does not include a reasonableness standard. The Admiral clause states: "If, however, the Named Insured shall refuse to consent to **any** settlement recommended by the Insurer, which is acceptable to the claimant, and shall elect to contest the Claim ... then the Insurer's liability for the Claim shall not exceed the amount for which the Claim could have been settled" (R. p. 371) (emphasis added). As discussed below, this type of consent to settle clause has been addressed by the United States Courts of Appeals for the Second and Ninth Circuits. *See Cowan v. Codelia*, 50 Fed. Appx. 36 (2d Cir. 2002); *Security National Ins. Co. v. City of Montebello*, 680 Fed. Appx. 525 (9th Cir. 2017).

At its heart, Appellants' contention rests on the false premise that the consent to settle clause in the Admiral policy includes a reasonableness standard. It does not.

ii. The Admiral consent to settle clause must be applied according to its plain and unambiguous terms.

The Circuit Court correctly held that the Admiral Policy's consent to settle clause is plain and unambiguous. As such, the clause must be applied according to its plain terms. Moreover, the Circuit Court properly relied upon cases from the Second and Ninth Circuit enforcing consent to settle clauses that – like the Admiral Policy clause – do not include a reasonableness standard.

In *City of Montebello*, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit addressed the very argument raised by Appellants here. Like Appellants here, the insured in *City of Montebello* argued that it acted reasonably by refusing to settle a case with a former employee. *Id.* at 527. Therefore, the insured argued that the consent to settle clause could not be used to limit the insurer's liability. However, the Ninth Circuit rejected that argument, holding "the hammer clause does not limit the insurer's right to invoke the clause to instances where the insured was unreasonable in rejecting the offer. **To hold otherwise would impermissibly rewrite the hammer clause to the policyholder's benefit.**" *Id.* (citations omitted) (emphasis added). This rule is identical to South Carolina's rule prohibiting courts from rewriting plainly worded contracts. See *Benjamin*, 415 S.C. at 143, 781 S.E.2d at 141 ("Courts must enforce, not write contracts of insurance . . .").

Like the rule applied by the Ninth Circuit in *City of Montebello*, "South Carolina courts have a long history of formalistic interpretation with respect to all contracts and have repeatedly held . . . insurance policies are subject to general rules of contract construction . . ." *Bell v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 565, 579 S.E.2d 399, 406 (2014) (quotation omitted). "The foremost rule in interpreting an insurance contract is to give effect to the intent of the parties as shown by the language of the contract itself." *Laidlaw Envtl. Services (TOC), Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. of Illinois*, 338 S.C. 43, 48, 524 S.E.2d 847, 850 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted). "When a contract is unambiguous, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used." *Bennett & Bennett Const., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 1, 4, 747 S.E.2d 426, 428 (2013) (citing *B.L.G. Enterprises, Inc. v. First Financial Ins. Co.*, 334 S.C. 529, 535, 514 S.E.2d 326, 330 (1999)).

Appellants argue the judgment on the pleadings was premature because “the record reflects no facts upon which a court could determine whether Ballard’s refusal to permit settlement was **reasonable**.” (Appellants’ Br. p. 11) (emphasis added). In doing so, Appellants attempt to convert the consent to settle clause in the Policy from one which does not include a “reasonableness” standard to one that does. In other words, Appellants ask this Court – like they did the Circuit Court – to rewrite the policy. This request directly contravenes South Carolina law because the terms of the Policy are plain and unambiguous. *See Benjamin*, 415 S.C. at 143, 781 S.E.2d at 141 (“Courts must enforce, not write contracts of insurance . . .”).

“The court’s duty is limited to the interpretation of the contract made by the parties themselves regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or failure of the parties to guard their interests carefully.” *B.L.G. Enterprises, Inc.*, 334 S.C. at 535, 514 S.E.2d at 330 (internal quotations omitted). While exclusions are construed against an insurer, “insurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose conditions on their obligations provided they are not in contravention of public policy or a statutory prohibition.” *Id.* at 535-36, 514 S.E.2d at 330 (citation omitted).

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